
  IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

TEXARKANA DIVISION

SHANNON GUESS RICHARDSON      §

VS.      § CIVIL ACTION NO. 5:16-CV-62

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA      §

REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION
OF UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE

Movant, Shannon Guess Richardson, a federal prisoner currently confined at the Federal

Medical Center in Fort Worth, Texas, proceeding pro se, filed this Motion to Vacate, Set Aside, or

Correct Sentence pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255.  

The above-styled action was referred to the undersigned Magistrate Judge pursuant to 28

U.S.C. § 636 and the Amended Order for the Adoption of Local Rules for the Assignment of Duties

to the United States Magistrate Judge for findings of fact, conclusions of law, and recommendations

for the disposition of the case.

Factual Background

On April 22, 2013, a Capital One credit card was opened in the name of Nathan Richardson. 

Presentence Investigation Report ("PSR"), ¶ 6, Richardson v. United States, 5:13-CR-13 (docket

entry no. 53).  Movant was listed as an authorized user on the credit card account.  Id.  Movant’s cell

phone and email address were identified as points of contact on the credit card account.  Id.  On

April 28, 2013, the credit card account was used to purchase 15 packets of red castor beans from an

online company, Whatcom Seed Company.  Id.  These seeds were sent to a post office box in New
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Boston, Texas, the post office box having been previously opened by movant.  Id.  On the same date,

15 castor bean flower seeds were ordered from a separate internet company; however, this order was

cancelled when the company was unable to fulfill the order.  Id.

On May 3, 2013, the credit card account was used to purchase 52 red castor bean seeds from

an individual through a PayPal account, which was registered in the name of Nathan Richardson. 

Id., ¶ 7.  Over 100 red castor beans were purchased from a second individual using the same credit

card and PayPal account.  Id.  Additionally, ten pounds of food grade lye, syringes, and needles were

purchased from other individuals using the same credit card account and PayPal account.  Id.    

On May 24, 2013, the New York City Police Department received an emergency call from

the New York City Mayor’s Mail Room.  Id., ¶ 8.  The caller, later identified as a Mail Room

employee, reported that a suspicious substance was discovered on a letter addressed to Mayor

Michael Bloomberg.  Id.  Upon arrival, officers discovered the letter was opened in a sealed

containment box, and contamination was not an issue at that point.  Id.  An examination of the

envelope revealed that it contained no return address.  Id.  The post mark indicated that it was

processed in Shreveport, Louisiana, on May 20, 2013.  Id.  The address label and letter appeared to

be computer-generated.  Id.  The letter contained a greasy, orange-tinted substance of unknown

origin.  Id.  The contents of the letter read as follows:

You will have to kill me and my family before you get my guns.  Anyone
wants to come to my house will get shot in the face.  The right to bear arms
is my constitutional God given right and I will exercise that right til the date
I die. whats [sic] in the letter is nothing compared to what i’ve [sic] got in
store for you.

Id.
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The envelope and letter were placed in a secure package and taken into custody by the

Hazardous Material Supervisor of the Department of Environmental Protection.  Id., ¶ 9.  The letter

was analyzed and it was discovered that the unknown substance was ricin.  Id.  

On May 27, 2013, Mark Glaze, who formerly worked for the Raben Group as a principal to

the Mayors Against Illegal Guns coalition, went to his former office at the Raben Group to retrieve

his belongings.  Id., ¶ 10.  Glaze cleared his personal items before retrieving his mail.  Id.  Glaze

exited the building and proceeded to open his mail.  Id.  Glaze opened an envelope addressed to him

with no return address.  Id.  The letter contained the same computer-generated message as the letter

sent to Mayor Bloomberg.  Id.  Glaze immediately noted a greasy, orange-tinted substance on the

letter.  Id.  He immediately notified the Washington, D.C. Police Department of the letter.  Id.

The Washington, D.C. Police Department Hazardous Material Squad and Bomb Squad

responded to Glaze’s location and scanned the envelope for further danger.  Id., ¶ 11.  The letter and

envelope were secured and given to the Maryland Department of Health and Hygiene.  Id.  The

envelope was examined and found to have been post marked from Shreveport, Louisiana, on May 20,

2013.  Id.  The greasy substance on the letter was determined to be ricin.  Id.

On May 30, 2013, an employee at the White House Mail Screening Facility in Washington,

D.C., notified the FBI Washington Field Office that a letter matching the description of those

previously received by Mayor Bloomberg and Glaze had arrived at the facility.  Id., ¶ 12.  The

envelope was addressed to then President of the United States, Barack Obama.  Id.  There was no

return address, but the envelope did display a post mark from Shreveport, Louisiana, dated May 20,

2013.  Id.  The envelope was taken into custody by the FBI Hazardous Evidence Response Team.  Id. 

The envelope was opened and it was found to contain a computer-generated message that read as
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follows:

You will have to kill me and my family before you get my guns.  Anyone
wants to come to my house will get shot in the face.  I served in the united
states army [sic] and because your muslin [sic] ass will probably [sic] never
be able to retire.  I [sic] will have to work until I take my last breath.  I
deserve better and so do my wife and kiddos.  I will take care of this myself
and make sure you wont [sic] be running the country into the ground any
further.  What’s in this letter is nothing compared to what I’ve [sic] got in
store for you mr president [sic].

Id.

The letter was found to contain a greasy, orange-tinted substance, which later tested positive

for ricin.  Id., ¶ 13.  

Procedural Background

1.  The Criminal Complaint and Indictment

On June 7, 2013, a Complaint was filed against movant by the Federal Bureau of

Investigation in the Eastern District of Texas, Texarkana Division.  Id.  (docket entry no. 1).  The

Complaint alleged that on May 20, 2013, movant committed the offense of Mailing Threatening

Communications, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 876(c).  Id.  Movant was arrested the same day.  PSR,

¶ 25.  

On June 27, 2013, a Grand Jury in the Eastern District of Texas, Texarkana Division,

returned a three-count Indictment against movant.  Id. (docket entry no. 19).  Count 1 of the

Indictment alleged that on May 20, 2013, movant committed the offense of Threat Against the

President of the United States, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 871(a).  Id.  Counts 2 and 3 of the

Indictment alleged that on May 20, 2013, movant committed the offense of Mailing Threatening

Communication, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 876(c).  Id.
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2.  The Information and Guilty Plea

An Information was filed on December 10, 2013, by the United States Attorney’s Office. 

Id. (docket entry no. 33).  The Information alleged that on April 28, 2013, movant committed the

offense of Developing, Producing, Possessing, and Transferring a Toxin for Use as a Weapon, in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 175(a).  Id.  

Movant entered into a binding 11(c)(1)(C) Plea Agreement on the same day.  Id. (docket

entry no. 38). Pursuant to the written binding Plea Agreement, movant entered a plea of guilty to the

Information with the following stipulations:

1. The parties agree that the appropriate sentence in this case is 18
years imprisonment with a term of supervised release of five years
to follow the sentence of imprisonment;

2. Any fine or restitution is to be determined by the Court; and

3. The defendant is to pay a $100 special assessment on or before the
date of sentencing.  

Id.  The plea agreement contained the following waiver of appeal:

Except as otherwise provided herein, the defendant expressly waives the right
to appeal the conviction, sentence, fine and/or order of restitution or forfeiture
in this case on all grounds.  The defendant further agrees not to contest the
conviction, sentence, fine and/or order of restitution or forfeiture in any post-
conviction proceeding including but not limited to a proceeding under 28
U.S.C. § 2255.  The defendant, however, reserves the right to appeal the
following: (a) the failure of the Court, after accepting this agreement, to
impose a sentence in accordance with the terms of this agreement and (b) a
claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that affects the validity of the waiver
or the plea itself. 

Id.  
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At the change of plea hearing, movant stated she was satisfied with the representation of her

counsel.  Transcript, Change of Plea Hearing, pg. 8 (docket entry no. 78).  Movant acknowledged

that she had discussed the overall case, the pending charges, and available defenses with her lawyer. 

Id., pgs. 7-8.  Movant confirmed she understood the charge against her and the elements of the

charge.  Id., pg. 10.  The Court advised movant she faced a maximum statutory penalty of

imprisonment for up to life.  Id.  Movant further stipulated her plea was voluntary and was not the

result of force or threats.  Id., pgs. 18, 23.  Movant also stated no other promises had been made to

her.  Id., pg. 18.  Finally, movant admitted the facts contained in the factual resume, executed in

conjunction with the plea agreement, were true and correct.  Id., pg. 21.     

3.  The PSR and Movant’s Objections 

An initial PSR was disclosed on March 20, 2014 (docket entry no. 47).  Movant’s counsel

filed written objections (docket entry no. 52).  One objection concerned the probation officer’s use

of U.S.S.G. § 2M6.1(a)(1) to determine the base offense level.  The remaining objections related to

the application of U.S.S.G. § 3A1.4, an adjustment for a felony that involved or was intended to

promote a federal crime of terrorism, and U.S.S.G. § 3C1.1, an adjustment for obstruction of justice.

A Final PSR that addressed these objections was issued on May 22, 2014 (docket entry no.

50).  A Revised Final PSR was issued on June 9, 2014 (docket entry no. 53).

The probation officer applied U.S.S.G. § 2M6.1(a)(2) to determine the base offense level. 

PSR, ¶ 36.  The guideline computations included increases under U.S.S.G. §§ 2M6.1(b)(1),

2M6.1(b)(3), 3A1.2(a), 3A1.4(a), and 3C1.1.  PSR ¶¶ 37-40, 42.  Movant received a three-level

reduction for acceptance of responsibility pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1(a).  PSR ¶¶ 45-46.  Although

calculated in excess of 43, the resulting offense level was treated as a level 43.  PSR ¶ 47.  Due to
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application of U.S.S.G. § 3A1.4, the criminal history category was increased from I to VI.  PSR ¶

52.  These calculations established a statutory range of 0 - life imprisonment and a guideline

provision for life imprisonment.  PSR ¶ 85.

4.  The Sentencing Hearing

Movant was sentenced on July 16, 2014.  At the hearing, the district court sustained the

objections to the victim-related adjustment of U.S.S.G. § 3A1.4(a).  Sentencing Hearing Transcript,

pgs. 12-13 (docket entry no. 79).  The Court overruled the objection regarding the adjustment for

obstruction of justice.  Id., pgs. 13-14.  After these rulings, the Court determined an offense level of

36 and a criminal history category I applied.  Id., pg. 16.  Those calculations resulted in a guideline

range of 188-235 months.  Id.

In accordance with the parties’ plea agreement, movant was then sentenced to a 216-month

term of imprisonment to be followed by five years of supervised release.  Id., pgs. 50, 55.  She was

also ordered to pay $367,222.29 in restitution.  Id., pg. 54.  The judgment was entered on July 17,

2014 (docket entry no. 59).  

5.  The Direct Appeal and § 2255 Motion 

Movant filed a pro se notice of appeal on July 21, 2014.  Id. (docket entry no. 61).  Movant

was appointed appellate counsel who filed a brief in accordance with Anders v. California, 386 U.S.

738 (1967) and United States v. Flores, 632 F.3d 229 (5th Cir. 2011).  Id. (docket entry no. 90).  The

Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals concurred with counsel’s assessment that the appeal presented no

nonfrivolous issue for appellate review and dismissed the appeal.1  Id.  (docket entry no. 90). 

1The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals determined that the record was not sufficiently
developed to allow the Court to make a fair evaluation of any claims of ineffective assistance of
counsel and, therefore, declined to consider any such claims without prejudice to collateral

7

Case 5:16-cv-00062-RWS-CMC   Document 30   Filed 05/09/18   Page 7 of 32 PageID #:  202



Movant filed the current motion to vacate, set aside, or correct sentence on April 28, 2016.  Id. 

(docket entry no. 91).2    

The Motion

Movant argues the following points of error: 

1. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to present mitigating 
evidence that could have resulted in a different sentence; 

2. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to petition the court for a 
downward departure; 

3. Involuntary and unknowing guilty plea due to ineffective assistance 
of counsel; 

4. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to argue sentencing 
disparity; 

5. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to call a critical witness; 

6. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to investigate key elements
of  the case; namely the toxin’s purity; 

7. Ineffective assistance of counsel for violating Texas Bar Association 
statutes; 

8. Violation of Fifth Amendment right to remain silent; 

9. Prosecutorial misconduct for withholding evidence;

10. The offense level was erroneously and improperly enhanced; and

11. The Government coerced her into signing the plea agreement and 
ineffective assistance of counsel for coercing movant to plead to a 
time-barred charge. 

review pursuant to United States v. Idgar, 739 F.3d 829, 841 (5th Cir. ), cert. denied, 135 S.Ct.
123 (2014).  

2The date movant certified she placed the motion to vacate, set aside, or correct sentence
in the prison mailing system.  
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Motion to vacate, set aside, or correct sentence (docket entry nos. 1, 5-6 ).  

The Government’s Response

The Government was ordered to Show Cause on June 6, 2016 (docket entry no. 11).  The

Government filed a response on September 13, 2016 (docket entry no. 16) along with an affidavit

from movant’s trail counsel, Tonda Curry, on December 4, 2017 (docket entry no. 26).  

The Government argues movant’s claims of ineffective assistance of counsel with respect

to her guilty plea is contradicted by the record and the remaining claims are waived by the binding

plea agreement.  The Government’s Response and movant’s Reply (docket entry no. 17) are

considered in this Report and Recommendation. 

Standard of Review

Title 28 U.S.C. § 2255 permits the district court, in certain instances, to vacate a judgment

and release or resentence the prisoner, grant the prisoner a new trial, or otherwise correct the

sentence.  The statute provides:

A prisoner in custody under sentence of a court established by Act of
Congress claiming the right to be released upon the ground that the sentence
was imposed in violation of the Constitution or laws of the Untied States, or
that the court was without jurisdiction to impose such sentence, or that the
sentence was in excess of the maximum authorized by law, or is otherwise
subject to collateral attack, may move the court which imposed the sentence
to vacate, set aside, or correct the sentence.  

28 U.S.C. § 2255.

Following a conviction and exhaustion of the right to direct appeal, a criminal defendant is

presumed to stand fairly and finally convicted.  United States v. Shaid, 937 F.2d 228 (5th Cir. 1991)

(en banc), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 1076 (1992).  Thus, relief under § 2255 is reserved for violations

of constitutional rights and for a narrow range of errors that could not have been raised on direct
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appeal and would result in a complete miscarriage of justice if allowed to go uncorrected.  United

States v. Vaughn, 955 F.2d 367, 368 (5th Cir. 1992).  Even if the movant alleges an error of

constitutional magnitude, he generally may not raise the issue for the first time on collateral review

without showing cause for the procedural default and actual prejudice resulting from the error. 

Shaid, 937 F.2d at 232.  However, claims based on ineffective assistance of counsel may be raised

for the first time in a collateral proceeding, whether or not the issue could have been raised on direct

appeal.  Massaro v. United States, 538 U.S. 500, 509 (2003).    

In order to show that counsel was ineffective, a petitioner must demonstrate:

first . . . that counsel’s performance was deficient.  This requires showing that
counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the
‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.  Second, the
defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. 
This requires showing that counsel’s errors were so serious as to deprive the
defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable.  Unless a defendant
makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence
resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result
unreliable.

See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); see also United States v. Gammas, 376 F.3d

433, 436 (5th Cir. 2004).  In order to prove the prejudice prong, a petitioner “must show that there

is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding

would have been different.”  Day v. Quarterman 566 F.3d 527, 536 (5th Cir. 2009).  The petitioner

must “affirmatively prove,” not just allege, prejudice.  Id.  If the petitioner fails to prove the

prejudice component, the court need not address the question of counsel’s performance.  Id.  A

reviewing court “must strongly presume that trial counsel rendered adequate assistance and that the

challenged conduct was the product of a reasoned trial strategy.”  Walkerton v. Collins, 950 F.2d

1054, 1065 (5th Cir. 1992), cert. denied, 509 U.S. 921 (1993).
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The burden of proof in a habeas corpus proceeding attacking the effectiveness of trial

counsel is upon petitioner, who must demonstrate counsel’s ineffectiveness by a preponderance of

the evidence.  Martin v. Maggie, 711 F.2d 1273, 1279 (5th Cir. 1983), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1028

(1984).  In determining the merits of an alleged Sixth Amendment violation, a court “must be highly

deferential” to counsel’s conduct.  See Strickland 466 U.S. at 687.  The alleged deficiency in

representation is measured against an objective standard of reasonableness.  See Kitchens v.

Johnson, 190 F.3d 698, 701 (5th Cir. 1999).  “A conscious and informed decision on trial tactics

and strategy cannot be the basis for constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel unless it is so

ill chosen that it permeates the entire trial with obvious unfairness.”  United States v. Jones, 287

F.3d 325, 331 (5th Cir. 2002) , cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1018 (2002) (quoting Garland v. Maggie, 717

F.2d 199, 206 (5th Cir. 1983)).  Finally, bald conclusory statements by a defendant are not enough

to sustain a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.  Sayre v. Anderson, 238 F.3d 631, 635-36

(5th Cir. 2001).  The allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel must be supported by the

record.  United States v. Johnson, 679 F.2d 54, 58-59 (5th Cir. 1982).

When a prisoner challenges a guilty plea based on ineffective assistance of counsel, the

“prejudice” requirement “focuses on whether counsel’s constitutionally ineffective performance

affected the outcome of the plea process.”  Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58 (1985).  To satisfy this

requirement in the plea context, the prisoner “must show that there is a reasonable probability that,

but for counsel’s errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to

trial.”  Id.  Moreover, in non-capital cases, to establish prejudice, the prisoner must show there is

a reasonable probability that absent counsel’s errors, the defendant’s sentence would have been

different.  Glover v. U.S., 531 U.S. 198, 199 (2001); see also United States v. Gammas, 376 F.3d
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433, 436 (5th Cir. 2004).

Analysis

1.  Ineffective Assistance as to the Guilty Plea & Waiver (Grounds 3 & 11)

As outlined above, the plea agreement in this case contained a waiver of the right to appeal

or otherwise challenge the sentence.  Plea Agreement, pg. 5 (docket entry no. 38).  In grounds 3 and

11, movant asserts her claims for ineffective assistance of counsel as to the plea and waiver.  In

Ground 3 movant vaguely alleges her plea was involuntary and unknowing due to ineffective

assistance of counsel.  In Ground 11, movant alleges she was coerced into signing the plea

agreement as to a “time-barred” charge due to ineffective assistance of counsel.  In addition, movant

argues the Government and counsel threatened and coerced her into signing the plea agreement.  

A guilty plea will be upheld on habeas review if the plea was entered into knowingly,

voluntarily, and intelligently.  United States v. Hernandez, 234 F.3d 252, 254 (5th Cir. 2000). 

Whether a plea is knowing turns on whether the defendant understood the consequences of the plea;

the defendant must have a full understanding of “what the plea connotes and of its consequences.” 

Id. at 255.  A defendant need only understand the direct consequences of the plea, and need not be

made aware of every consequence that -- absent the guilty plea -- would not otherwise occur.  Id. 

 The consequences of a guilty plea, with respect to sentencing, means that the defendant must know

the maximum prison term and the fine for the charged offense.  See United States v. Guerra, 94

F.3d 989, 995 (5th Cir. 1996).     

With respect to voluntariness, the question becomes whether the plea was induced by threats

or improper promises.  Id.; see also United States v. Nunez, 539 F. App’x 502, 503 (5th Cir. 2013)

(“Whether a plea is knowing looks to whether the defendant understands the direct consequences
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of his plea, while voluntariness looks, inter alia, whether the plea was induced by threats or

improper promises.”). 

Firm declarations in open court, including a plea colloquy, carry a strong presumption of

verity.  See United States v. Perez, 690 F. App’x 191, 192 (5th Cir. 2017) (Mem.) (“A defendant’s

solemn declarations in open court carry a strong presumption of truth.”) (quoting Blackledge v.

Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 74 (1977)).  As a result, the petitioner faces the heavy burden of proving that

he is entitled to relief through overcoming the evidence of his own words.  DeVille v. Whitley, 21

F.3d 654, 659 (5th Cir. 1994); see also United States v. Raetzsch, 781 F.2d 1149, 1151 (5th Cir.

1986) (holding that there must be independent indicia of the likely merit of the petitioner’s

contentions; mere contradiction of the statements made at the guilty plea proceeding will not

suffice); cf. United States v. Fuller, 769 F.2d 1095, 1099 (5th Cir. 1985) (to be entitled to an

evidentiary hearing on a claim that sworn statements made during the guilty plea proceeding were

false, the petitioner must make “specific factual allegations supported by the affidavit of a reliable

third witness.”).      

Here, the record evidence indicates that movant’s plea and waiver were both knowing and

voluntary.  As previously stated, movant’s signed plea agreement contains an express waiver of her

right to appeal or seek relief under § 2255.  Plea Agreement, pgs. 4-5 (docket entry no. 38).  During

movant’s change of plea hearing, movant confirmed she discussed the facts, the pending charge and

both favorable and unfavorable defenses with her attorney.  Id., pg. 7.  Movant stated she was

satisfied that her counsel fully considered her case.  Id., pg. 8.  The Court then summarized the

information, noted the maximum term of imprisonment under the statute (up to life imprisonment)

and affirmed that it was movant’s desire to waive her right to a preliminary examination and her
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right to present the charge to a grand jury.  Id. pgs., 10-11.  Movant stated she understood that the

district court was not bound by the plea agreement and could reject its terms but acknowledged she

would be given the opportunity to withdraw her plea of guilty if those circumstances arose.  Id., pg.

12.  In addition, she confirmed she reviewed the plea agreement with her attorney, understood all

the terms of the plea agreement, discussed her decision to plead guilty with her attorney at length,

and signed the agreement with the agreed upon term of imprisonment of 18 years with 5 years of

supervised release to follow.  Id., pgs. 13-14; 19.  The Court confirmed with movant that she was

freely and voluntarily entering a plea of guilty without force or threat and that no one had made

promises to her in order to persuade her to enter into the plea agreement.  Id., pg. 18.  Movant also

affirmed that the factual resume was an accurate description of her participation in the offense.  Id.,

pg. 22.  Movant’s attorney stated she was satisfied that movant was pleading guilty voluntarily,

understandingly and with full knowledge of the consequences of her plea.   Id., pgs. 22-23.   Later,

the Court again asked and movant confirmed that she understood the consequences of pleading

guilty and was pleading guilty knowingly and voluntarily.  Id., pg. 23.  

The record of the plea hearing clearly illustrates the Court informed movant of the maximum

possible penalty and, thus, the consequences of pleading guilty.  See Guerra, 94 F.3d at 995 (setting

aside a conviction where a defendant pleaded guilty with “erroneous information as to the possible

penalty he faced.”); see also United States v. Ramirez, 114 F.3d 1180, 1997 WL 256686 at *1 (5th

Cir. 1997) (“Because Ramirez was informed, inter alia, of the maximum possible penalty, he was

aware of the consequences of pleading guilty.”).  

Movant has failed to overcome the evidence of her own words.  She asserted, under oath,

that she understood the charge, the plea agreement, and the maximum punishment.  Movant has
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offered no independent indicia of the likely merits of these claims; her mere contradiction of her

sworn testimony during the plea proceeding does not raise viable claims for relief.  

a. Time-Barred Charge

With respect to this claim, movant alleges her trial attorney forced her to plea to a “time-

barred” charge.  This claim simply lacks merit.  As argued by respondent, movant was indicted

within 30 days of her arrest.  See 18 U.S.C. § 3161(b).3  The information to which she pled was filed

within the applicable statute of limitations.  See 18 U.S.C. § 3282(a).4  Furthermore, the transcript

of the change of plea hearing reflects the impending information was part of the negotiated

11(c)(1)(C) plea agreement:

THE COURT: All right.  Also, because it is an information, does she 
understand that she has the right to have this presented
to a grand jury, the case presented to a grand jury; and 
does she wish to waive that as well?

3“[A]ny information or indictment charging an individual with the commission of an
offense shall be filed within thirty days from the date on which such individual was arrested. . . .
.”  18 U.S.C. § 3161(b) (Speedy Trial Act).  The Speedy Trial Act only requires dismissal of only
the offense or offenses charged in the original complaint if is filed past 30 days of the arrest.  See
United States v. Giwa, 831 F.2d 258, 540 (5th Cir. 1987) (citing United States v. Ray, 768 F.2d
991, 997 (8th Cir. 1985) (arrest on one charge does not trigger the right to a speedy trial on
another charge filed after arrest); United States v. Napolitano, 761 F.2d 135, 137 (2d Cir.), cert.
denied, 474 U.S. 842 (1985) (rejecting defendant’s claim that the Act bars prosecution not only
for the charge alleged in the complaint, but also for any conduct arising out of the same criminal
episode which was known or reasonably should have been known at the time the complaint was
filed); United States v. Heidt, 745 F.2d 1275, 1280 (9th Cir. 1984) (charges not included in the
original complaint are not covered by the Act . . . .); United States v. Brooks, 670 F.2d 148, 151
(11th Cir.), cert. denied, 457 U.S. 1124 (1982) (arrest triggers the running of section § 3161(b) of
the Speedy Trial Act only if the arrest is for the same offense for which the accused is
subsequently indicted)).

4“Except as otherwise expressly provided by law, no person shall be prosecuted, tried, or
punished for any offense, not capital, unless the indictment is found or the information is
instituted within five years next after such offense shall have been committed.”  18 U.S.C. §
3282(a).  
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MS. CURRY: Yes, your Honor.  We visited earlier this morning 
about the right to have the new charge presented to the
grand jury.  Of course it is no surprise to us that this 
information was filed today.  That’s part of our 
agreement.  It’s also a charge that we have expected 
to be filed by the government either through 
indictment or information for quite awhile, and she 
desires to waive the presentation of this charge to the 
grand jury.

THE COURT: All right.
All right, Ms. Richardson.  It is the court’s 
understanding that you do intend to enter a plea 
of guilty to the charge in the information; is that 
correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma’am.

Change of Plea Hearing Transcript, pgs. 4-5 (docket entry no. 78).  Movant has failed to establish

deficient performance and this claim should be denied.  Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668

(1984).   

b. Coercion

With respect to this claim, movant states that when she “wanted to exercise her right to a

trial, the prosecutor threatened to ‘go after’ her and charge her with terrorism and push for a life

sentence even though he told defendant and counsel he knew this was not true.”  Movant goes on

to argue, “[r]ather than fight for the defendant’s rights, counsel informed the defendant that she had

no choice but to sign the plea agreement.”  Movant continues that she was “[t]hreatened to enter

into a harsher plea agreement as compared to the indictment” and that she brought this to light

during the sentencing hearing.  At that time, movant argues her attorney told her “you have no

choice Shannon; they’re going to screw you if you don’t sign that.”  Movant argues now this was

erroneous advice and had she not have been threatened, she would have gone to trial.  See Amended
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Complaint (docket entry nos. 5 & 6).  

Movant goes on to argue that her attorney never informed of her right to plead without an

agreement with the Government - what she describes as an “open plea.”  Instead, movant contends

her counsel described the plea agreement in the terms of an “open plea” even though it was not one. 

Movant states she was informed by counsel she would receive 0-18 years and not a specified 18. 

Movant refers to the transcript of the plea hearing where she stopped the proceedings because she

was confused as she thought the possibility was 0-18 and not 18.  Movant states her attorney

informed movant it was 0-18 and told her “to agree to everything the judge said or the plea would

not be accepted and/or the Government would follow through with their threats.”  Movant states

she was confused at sentencing when her trial counsel told the Court that we move for you to reject

the plea agreement and impose a sentence that is lower than the plea agreement.  Finally, movant

states that she was further confused when her trial counsel told her to file an appeal despite the

waiver.5 

The affidavit of attorney Tonda Curry is instructive on movant’s argument that she was

coerced by her counsel and the Government to enter into the plea agreement and held an alleged

mistaken belief as to her potential sentencing exposure under the agreement:

After I had represented Ms. Richardson for approximately six months, she 
entered into a negotiated plea agreement with the government.  The 
agreement was made under Rule of Criminal Procedure 11(c)(1)(C) and 
called for a sentence of eighteen years imprisonment.  The agreement was 
drafted in such a manner that if the court imposed a sentence greater than 
eighteen years, the defendant would be allowed to withdraw her plea.  
However, if the court had rejected the agreement and imposed a sentence 
less than eighteen years, the government would have no remedy and would 

5Movant’s counsel was not ineffective to advise her client to file an appeal despite the waiver provision. 
This was effective assistance to ensure her client vetted all avenues for appeal despite the waiver provision.  
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be bound by the agreement.  I explained to Ms. Richardson that I did not 
believe that the government realized that this possibility existed under the 
plea agreement, and that this was our best hope for getting her the type of 
minimal sentence she thought she deserved.6  When presented with the 
options, this is the choice she elected.  While it was not successful and she 
did in fact receive a sentence of eighteen years, both she and I felt it was the 
best option at the time.

***

One of the greatest dangers to the Defendant during this case was the 
potential of a finding of terrorism which under the sentencing guidelines 
would have resulted in a sentence that would have effectively been the 
remainder of the Defendant’s life.  Both the U.S. Department of Justice and 
the Court’s Probation Department responsible for preparing the presentence 
investigation report believed it was a case of terrorism for guideline 
purposes.  It is true that during a meeting with the prosecution, the AUSA 
explained to Ms. Richardson that he had convinced the DOJ representatives 
that he did not believe the evidence showed an ideological crime.  Counsel 
knew that if this case proceeded to trial that determination might be made 
in Washington rather than locally.  It is also true that I communicated that 
to Ms. Richardson.  It was another benefit she would receive by entering into
an agreement.  If I had failed to communicate that, and my client would have
proceeded to trial, I would have certainly been ineffective.  Communicating 
all the information available to me so that she could make an informed 
decision is effective assistance.  

Affidavit of Tonda Curry (docket entry no. 26-1).

Movant’s understanding that she might receive less than 18 years’ imprisonment is

consistent with the strategy her attorney laid out for her in arguing to the Court to reject the plea

agreement.  This was sound strategy under the circumstances given.  See United States v. Jones, 287

F.3d 325 (5th Cir. 2002) (“Informed strategic decisions of counsel are given a heavy measure of

deference and should not be second guessed”) (citing Lamb v. Johnson, 179 F.3d 352, 358 (5th

Cir.), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 101 (1999)).  All the same, movant was advised numerous times of the

6Since this case, the Government has changed the language used in plea agreements to
allow either party to withdraw the plea agreement.  
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consequence of her guilty plea -- that the maximum penalty under the statutory and guidelines

provisions called for life imprisonment.  She also affirmed numerous times that she had read and

signed the plea agreement that negotiated an 18 year term of imprisonment, if the Court accepted

the plea agreement. 

That movant felt some pressure or reluctance to enter into the plea agreement is of no

consequence.  The threat of a potential terrorism charge if movant did not enter into the plea

agreement was real and movant’s own statements at the sentencing hearing demonstrate she

weighed this concern in deciding she did not want to proceed to trial:

I didn’t take this to trial for a few different reasons.  First, I trusted the 
Government to stand by what they said they would do, so I cooperated, 
expecting that.

Secondly, even though the United States Attorney vouched for me with 
many and went to bat for me and said I was never a danger and that I was 
duped into mailing the letters, is the way I was told, Ms. Curry told me if I 
didn’t change my plea to guilty, the Government was planning to classify me
as a terrorist.  I just couldn’t imagine going down that road.  

Even though I truly don’t understand this and it doesn’t make sense to me, 
I believe in taking responsibility for my actions and I do take responsibility 
for my role in this.  

Sentencing Transcript, pg. 25 (docket entry no. 79).  Movant’s own testimony reflects that she

voluntarily chose to plead guilty based on the sound advice of counsel.  Moreover, movant’s

counsel filed objections to the PSR when the probation department still moved with classifying the

acts involved as acts of terrorism.  Objections (docket entry no. 52).  The Government did not

oppose those objections in line with their belief that movant did not act as a terrorist which allowed

the district court to adjust movant’s offense level from a 43 to a 36.  This reduced movant’s

criminal history category from a VI to a I, yielding a sentencing range of 188 - 235 months rather
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than life imprisonment.  Response to Objections (docket entry no. 55); Sentencing Transcript

(docket entry no. 79).  This was clearly not ineffective assistance.  Strickland v. Washington, 466

U.S. 668 (1984).  

A defendant possesses the “ultimate authority” to determine her plea.  See Burt v. Titlow,

134 S.Ct. 10 (2013) (citing Florida v. Nixon, 543 U.S. 175, 187 (2004)).  Based on the record,

counsel was not deficient in her performance in advising movant to accept the plea agreement and

movant has not shown prejudice.  Hill v. Lockart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985) (to satisfy the “prejudice”

requirement, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s

alleged errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.”). 

Movant offers no evidence that she would have proceeded to trial but for counsel’s advice.  Her

own testimony at the sentencing hearing contradicts this assertion.  

Based on the foregoing, this Court finds movant’s guilty plea was knowing and voluntary 

- she fully understood the elements of the crime, the maximum statutory and guideline penalty of

life imprisonment, the maximum of 18 years under the negotiated plea agreement if accepted by the

Court, and the rights she was waiving by pleading guilty.  

An informed and voluntary waiver of post-conviction relief under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 "is

effective to bar such relief.”  United States v. Wilkes, 20 F.3d 651, 653 (5th Cir. 1994).  In line with

the terms of the plea agreement, the Fifth Circuit has held that a waiver of appeal may not be

enforced against a defendant who raises a challenge in a § 2255 motion who claims that ineffective

assistance of counsel rendered the waiver itself involuntary.  See United States v. Henderson, 72

F.3d 463, 465 (5th Cir. 1995).  Nonetheless, unless the alleged ineffective assistance of counsel

“directly affected” the validity of the waiver or the plea itself, the claims for ineffective assistance

20

Case 5:16-cv-00062-RWS-CMC   Document 30   Filed 05/09/18   Page 20 of 32 PageID #:  215



of counsel are waived.  United States v. White, 307 F.3d 336, 343 (5th Cir. 2002). 

In conclusion, movant’s waiver is effective to bar relief on, or consideration, of movant’s

remaining claims which do not fall within the exceptions allowed in movant’s waiver. 

Alternatively, movant’s additional claims of ineffective assistance of counsel lack merit as outlined

below.  

2.  Remaining Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Claims

a.  Ricin Purity (Ground 6)

In this point of error, movant argues her counsel was ineffective in failing to investigate the

purity of the ricin found on the threat letters.  Movant argues the Government was required to prove

the ricin’s toxicity level and a failure to investigate the purity was ineffective.  As outlined below,

this claim lacks merit.  

The purity of the toxin is not an element of the offense.  See generally 18 U.S.C. §175(a)

(criminalizing knowing possession of any toxin for use as weapon).  At the change of plea hearing,

the Court reviewed the elements with movant.  Transcript of Change of Plea Hearing, pgs. 9-10

(docket entry no. 78).7  Movant stated she understood the required proof.  Id., pg. 10.  

“[C]ounsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision

that makes particular investigations unnecessary.”  Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691.  In evaluating a

claim of ineffectiveness, “a particular decision not to investigate must be directly assessed for

7The Government would have to prove (1) the defendant knowingly developed, produced, stockpiled,
transferred, acquired, retained, or possessed a biological agent, toxin, or delivery system or attempted, conspired, or
threatened to do so; and (2) prove that the biological agent, toxin, or delivery system was developed, produced,
possessed, or transferred for use as a weapon.  Id.  Movant admitted in the Factual Resume that she ordered supplies
on-line to manufacture ricin, put the ricin on the letters and knew that ricin is a biological toxin that can be fatal if
ingested, inhaled, or injected and that there is no known antidote or cure for ricin poisoning.  Movant also admitted
that she knew anyone handling the letters would be potentially exposed to the ricin.  The fact that they were not
injured is irrelevant.  
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reasonableness in all the circumstances, applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel’s

judgments.”  Id.; see also Del Toro, 498 F.3d at 491 (“We do not indulge the temptation to rely on

hindsight that accompanies claims that counsel’s investigation was inadequate.”).  A decision by

movant’s counsel to forego investigation of the ricin’s purity was not “outside the wide range of

professionally competent assistance.”  Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690.  Movant has failed to show

counsel was ineffective in this regard.  

b.  Sentencing

i.  Mitigating Evidence (Ground 1)

Movant next argues her counsel was ineffective for failing to present mitigating evidence

for the Court’s consideration at sentencing.  The record directly contradicts this assertion.  The PSR

discusses movant’s personal background, including descriptions of childhood trauma and abusive

relationships.  PSR, ¶¶ 56-66 (docket entry no. 53).  Movant’s mental and emotional health are also

discussed as well.  Id., ¶¶ 72-74.  At the sentencing hearing, letters from fellow inmates were

submitted for the Court’s consideration in addition to certificates for courses completed while

movant was in custody.  Sentencing Hearing Transcript, pgs. 16-17; 27 (docket entry no. 79).  In

addition, counsel offered the report of a psychologist who examined movant and presented the live

testimony from a prisoner minister.  Id., 17-22.  Finally, movant’s trial counsel argued extensively

to the Court requesting a sentence below the 216 months to which the parties had stipulated to in

the binding Rule 11(c)(1)(C) agreement.  Id., pgs. 43-49.  These efforts do not constitute ineffective

assistance and are not the type of unreasonable conduct required for relief under Strickland.   
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ii.  Sentencing Guideline Departures (Ground 2)

Movant next argues her counsel should have argued for a downward departure under

U.S.S.G. §§ 5K2.13 (diminished capacity), 5K2.20 (aberrant behavior), and 5K1.1 (substantial

assistance).  To establish a basis for relief, movant must establish that counsel failed to raise

meritorious objections and that the outcome would have been different.  Parr v. Quarterman, 472

F.3d 245, 256 (5th Cir. 2006).  

As outlined above, counsel competently filed written objections regarding the base offense

level and the guideline adjustments for terrorism and obstruction of justice.  The record reflects she

discussed those with movant.  Sentencing Hearing Transcript, pgs. 8-9.  The probation officer

agreed with the objection concerning the base offense level which resulted in a decrease from 42

to 28.  The Government did not oppose the objections concerning the terrorism adjustment

(U.S.S.G. § 3A1.4) and the Court ultimately sustained that objection which reduced movant’s total

offense level from 43 to 36 and her criminal history category from VI to I.  Based on these

objections alone, movant’s guideline range decreased from life imprisonment to a range of 188-235

months.  As outlined above, this does not evince ineffective assistance of counsel. 

As to movant’s argument that counsel was ineffective for failing to seek a downward

departure for substantial assistance, this claim lacks merit on its face.  A downward departure for

substantial assistance is purely at the discretion of the Government.  United States v. Grant, 493

F.3d 464, 467 (5th Cir. 2007).  Movant’s counsel cannot be considered ineffective for the

Government’s discretionary actions.    

As to the remaining grounds for downward departure, movant has failed to establish her

suggested arguments for downward departure would have produced a different outcome. 
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Furthermore, the affidavit of Tonda Curry establishes she did not think movant qualified for any

of the grounds and believed they would be frivolous motions:

Ms. Richardson asserts that I was ineffective for failing to seek a downward 
departure at sentencing and lists three potential grounds.  Ms. Richardson
did not qualify for a downward departure on any of the grounds listed.  A
departure for substantial assistance is not something that can be sought by
defense counsel.  Ms. Richardson’s statement that I told her the government
would not make a departure motion for her due to the “pressure” of this case
is wholly false.  That was not said to me, and I did not say it to her.  Ms.
Richardson had so many pervasive credibility issues that it would have been
nearly impossible for her to earn a substantial assistance motion.  In her
statements regarding a departure motion for diminished capacity Ms.
Richardson demonstrates that she does not understand the difference
between the terms “mental illness,” personality disorder,” and “mental
health.”  In this context they are not synonymous and the differences are
significant.  She likewise glosses over the element requiring a finding that
incarceration is not necessary for protection of the public.  In this case,
whether she intended to or not, Ms. Richardson put members of the public
at risk from Texarkana, Texas, to Washington, D.C.  I did not believe it was
possible to convince the Court to make such a finding, and therefore I did
not seek one.  My experience has led me to adopt the theory that if you argue
a point that cannot be supported by some evidence, you lose credibility with
the Court or with a jury on other issues.  My focus at sentencing was on
issues I believed were within the realm of possible victories.  I was
successful in some of the objections to the presentence report.  Beyond that
our strategy was to ask the Judge to reject the plea agreement and impose a
lower sentence.  The Court allowed me and Ms. Richardson all the time
needed to argue that position.  

Affidavit of Tonda Curry, pg. 2 (docket entry no. 26-1).  Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing

to file frivolous motions.  Strickland, 460 U.S. at 689 (holding strategic decisions by counsel are

virtually unchallengeable and generally do not provide a basis for postconviction relief on the

grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel); Johnson v. Cockrell, 306 F.3d 249, 255 (5th Cir.

2002) (concluding that counsel is not required to make futile motions or frivolous objections).  
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iii.  Sentencing Disparity (Ground 4)

A reviewing court’s concern about unwarranted sentencing disparities is at a minimum when

a sentence is within the sentencing guideline range.  United States v. Carey, 589 F.3d 187, 196 (5th

Cir. 2009) (In the Fifth Circuit, a sentence within the Guidelines range is presumed reasonable on

appeal.)  In the present case, movant’s sentence of 216 months fell within the calculated guideline

range of 188-235 months.  Regardless, movant claims her attorney erred by failing to present an

argument of sentencing disparity.  Movant, however, does not offer any credible proof of prejudice. 

The Court considered other ricin cases in imposing the sentence8 and movant has not shown there

was a reasonable probability that her term of imprisonment would have been shorter had movant’s

counsel advanced such an argument.  See Ventura v. United States, 2007 WL 2471061 (5th Cir.

2007) (not designated for publication); see also Sentencing Transcript, pgs. 53 (docket entry no.

79).  

c.  Failure to Call Witnesses (Ground 5)

Movant next asserts her counsel was ineffective as she failed to call Dr. Don Walker and

her obstetrician as witnesses at sentencing.  With respect to Dr. Walker, movant concedes that Dr.

Walker’s report was provided to the sentencing judge at the sentencing hearing.  Transcript, pgs.

16-17 (docket entry no. 79).  Movant’s counsel reminded the Court of the report during the

sentencing hearing and discussed Dr. Walker’s findings.  Id., pgs. 48-49.  The Court read the report

prior to imposing sentence.  Id., pg. 49.  Movant’s counsel also relayed that it was her strategy not

to call Dr. Walker as a witness:  

8The Court stated “I have reviewed other cases involving ricin and I find that this sentence is right in the --
it is very appropriate.  There is no disproportionate sentencing here.  Transcript, pg. 53 (docket entry no. 79).  
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Ms. Richardson claims that I was [sic] provided ineffective assistance of 
counsel when I did not call Dr. Don Walker, s [sic] psychologist who
examined her at my request for sentencing.  However, the decision not to
call Dr. Walker was an intentional strategic choice on my part.  I believe it
was well within the range of reasonable choices.  Dr. Walker wrote a report
very favorable to Ms. Richardson.  After receiving the report, but prior to the
sentencing hearing, I met personally with Dr. Walker.  We discussed his
testimony and potential areas of cross examination.  Following this meeting
I decided that the risk of certain areas coming out during cross examination
was not worth the marginal increase in reward of live testimony over the
report alone.  It was my decision to provide the report to the court as part of
the presentence investigation report, but not to call Dr. Walker to testify.  I
did just that.  Both the Court and I made reference to the report during the
sentencing hearing.

Affidavit, pg. 2 (docket entry no. 26-1).  Counsel made a strategic choice not call Dr. Walker and

was not ineffective in this regard.  Movant has not satisfied Strickland.  

With respect to the potential testimony of her obstetrician, movant offers no real specifics 

as to how this testimony would have beneficial other than to say, “defendant was pregnant at the

time of the offense and an obstetrician would be important in giving further information about the

hormones of pregnant women and how it has been scientifically proven to affect a woman’s

thinking, rationality and behavior.”  A counsel’s failure to call witnesses does not mandate a finding

of ineffective assistance of counsel.  See United States v. Cockrell, 720 F.2d 1423, 1428 (5th Cir.

1983).  “[C]omplaints of uncalled witnesses are ‘disfavored’ as a source of Strickland habeas

review.”  United States v. Harris, 408 F.3d 186, 190 (5th Cir. 2005) (quoting Buckley v. Collins,

904 F.2d 263, 266 (5th Cir. 1990); see also Buckelew v. United States, 373 F.21d 515, 521 (5th Cir.

1978).  “To prevail on an ineffective assistance claim based upon uncalled witnesses, an applicant

must name the witness, demonstrate that the witness would have testified, set out the content of the

witness’s proposed testimony, and show that the testimony would have been favorable.”  Gregory

v. Thaler, 601 F.3d 347, 352 (5th Cir. 2010 (citing Alexander, 775 F.2d at 602).  First, movant has
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not shown that the unnamed obstetrician would have actually testified.  Furthermore, movant has

failed to show how this potential testimony would have been favorable to movant.  It would appear

the potential testimony would actually be cumulative of the testimony provided by Dr. Walker in

his report.  Movant has not shown deficient performance nor prejudice. 

d.  Deficient Communication Between Movant and Counsel (Ground 7)

In this point of error, movant alleges her counsel was ineffective based on alleged violations

of Texas State Bar ethics rules.  Movant contends counsel’s communication during the case was

inadequate and appears to allege counsel mishandled client funds.  The latter has no relation to the

effective assistance of counsel offered by the defense in this case and will not be considered by this

Court.  

As to the allegation that counsel violated some Texas State Bar ethics rules in her

representation, movant has failed to provide any factual support for this claim.  Movant merely

recites the applicable statutes.  To the extent movant argues counsel failed to communicate with her

adequately, the affidavit of movant’s counsel outlines the following:

Ms. Richardson claims that I did not spend time visiting her. She focuses on 
the fact that I made a statement to the court that I had visited her in every
facility she had been housed in.  I misspoke on that statement.  For nine days
Ms. Richardson was housed in the Smith County Jail.  She says I did not
visit her while she was there.  That may be true, but a nine-day gap in a year
of representation does not amount to ineffective assistance.  I visited Ms.
Richardson numerous times.  The Bowie County facility, where she was
housed the longest, made special arrangements at my request and allowed
us face to face visits, visits during restricted hours.  We spent a significant
amount of time discussing the options.  We spent a significant amount of
time discussing the plea agreement and the fact that if the Court agreed with
her that the sentence was too severe, he could reject the plea agreement and
impose whatever lower sentence he thought was appropriate.  When I
presented her with the factual resume, she and I went through it and she
made changes to make it read exactly the way she wanted.  The government
agreed to those changes and redrafted the factual resume.  That indicates her
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complete understanding of what she was admitting to the Court.  

Affidavit, Tonda Curry, pgs 2-3 (docket entry no. 26-1).  

The record and counsel’s affidavit establish that counsel’s representation of movant in this

case was more than effective in light of the potential for additional charges of terrorism against

movant.  Counsel’s strategy in asking the Court to reject the plea agreement and sentence movant

to a sentence lower than the 18 years agreed upon (when the Government had no recourse) was a

considered and competent strategy.  The record evidence demonstrates movant understood the

strategy and did not want to go to trial.  Movant stipulated in the plea agreement she was satisfied

with the representation she received.  Plea Agreement, ¶12 (docket entry no. 38).  She confirmed

the same at the change of plea hearing.  Change of Plea Hearing Transcript, pg. 8 (docket entry no.

78).  Movant acknowledged she discussed the case, the facts, the pending charge, and available

defenses with counsel prior to the entry of her guilty plea.  Id., pgs. 7-8, 20, 22-23.  At sentencing,

movant re-affirmed that she had been able to communicate with defense counsel throughout the

pendency of the case.  Sentencing Hearing Transcript, pg. 4 & 6 (docket entry no. 79).  Movant has

failed to show deficient performance and prejudice as required under Strickland.  

e.  Ineffective Assistance of Counsel on Appeal

Movant makes very brief, intermittent arguments of ineffective assistance of counsel on

appeal.  As outlined above, movant’s appellant counsel filed an Anders brief.  The appellate court

found no issues of merit following the Anders brief.  The issues raised in the instant motion have

been found to be without merit.  Movant has not shown any issue of merit that counsel should have

raised on appeal.  Movant has failed to meet the standard to show ineffective assistance of counsel

on appeal -- that her appellate attorney was objectively unreasonable in failing to find arguable
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issues to appeal, and also a reasonable probability that, but for her counsel’s alleged unreasonable

failure to file a merits brief raising these issues, she would have prevailed on his appeal.  Smith v.

Robbins, 528 U.S. 259, 285 (2000).  

3.  Constitutional Claims

Through points of error eight and nine, movant alleges constitutional violations by the

Government.  Neither claim, however, is factually supported by the record nor legally sufficient. 

a.  Fifth Amendment Violation (Ground 8)

In point of error eight, movant contends her sentence should be vacated due to a violation

of her Fifth Amendment rights.  In her Reply to the Government’s Response, movant states she was

questioned by the FBI after she was arrested and on the way to the court and to the hospital.  She

confirms, however, she was advised of her Miranda rights but alleges she did not waive those rights

and argues the interrogation should have been stopped immediately when she asked for an attorney. 

Assuming movant’s version of the facts are correct, even if such an interview took place,

no prejudice could have resulted.   Day v. Quarterman 566 F.3d 527, 536 (5th Cir. 2009) (in order

to prove the prejudice prong, a petitioner “must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but

for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.).  As

previously outlined, this court finds movant’s plea was knowing and voluntary.  As such, movant

knowingly and voluntarily waived her right to trial and agreed to plead guilty.  Thus, no in-custody

statement (if it even existed) was used against her or introduced into evidence.  Rather, movant

made factual admission in connection with her guilty plea.  Factual Resume (docket entry no. 39). 

Movant testified during her change of plea hearing that she reviewed the factual resume, that the

information in it was true and correct and that it was her signature on the factual resume.  Those
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admissions, not some other statement(s) made by movant, provided a factual basis for her plea.  No

Fifth Amendment violated occurred and this claim lacks merit.

b.  Brady Violation (Ground 9)

In point of error nine, movant argues the Government violated its disclosure obligations

under Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) by allegedly withholding the results of her husband’s

polygraph examination.  Movant concedes in her reply to the Government’s response, however, that

the results of the polygraph were in fact disclosed to defense counsel.  The record confirms the

examination and its results were discussed in the PSR.  PRS, ¶ 20.  As such, no Brady violation

occurred and this claims also lacks merit.   

4.  Sentencing Errors (Ground 10)

In point of error ten, movant alleges her sentence must be corrected as certain guideline

adjustments -- U.S.S.G. § 2M6.1(b)(1) and 2M6.1(b)(3) -- were improperly used in calculating her

sentencing range.  A district court’s technical application of the Sentencing Guidelines does not

give rise to constitutional issues.  United States v. Towe, 26 F.3d 614, 616 (5th Cir. 1994); United

States v. Payne, 99 F.3d 1273, 1281-82 (5th Cir. 1986).  As a result, claims that the court

misapplied the sentencing guidelines are not cognizable under § 2255.  United States v. Williamson,

183 F.3d 458, 462 (5th Cir. 1999).

To the extent movant argues counsel was ineffective for failing to argue these two

enhancements did not apply, this claim lacks merit.  First, movant cites no authority for her

assertion that these enhancements were applied unconstitutionally.  Second, the Guidelines

themselves contemplate the application of these enhancements if 28 U.S.S.G. § 2M6.1(a)(2)
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applies.9  Strickland, 460 U.S. at 689 (holding strategic decisions by counsel are virtually

unchallengeable and generally do not provide a basis for postconviction relief on the grounds of

ineffective assistance of counsel); Johnson v. Cockrell, 306 F.3d 249, 255 (5th Cir. 2002)

(concluding that counsel is not required to make futile motions or frivolous objections).  Finally,

movant cannot show prejudice as her offense level was a Category I with or without the reduction

of these alleged unconstitutional enhancements.    Day v. Quarterman 566 F.3d 527, 536 (5th Cir.

2009) (in order to prove the prejudice prong, a petitioner “must show that there is a reasonable

probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have

been different.).  This claim also lacks merit.  

Recommendation

This motion to vacate, set aside or correct sentence filed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255

should be denied.  

Objections

Within fourteen days (14) after receipt of the Magistrate Judge’s report, any party may serve

and file written objections to the findings of facts, conclusions of law and recommendations of the

Magistrate Judge.  28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(c).  

9In the original PSR, the probation department argued 28 U.S.S.G. § 2M6.1(a)(1) applied
as they alleged movant committed the offense with the intent to injure the United States since
movant sent a ricin-tainted threat letter to the President of the United States.  The application of
this guideline called for a base offense level of 42.  Movant’s counsel was effective in arguing
against the application of this guideline, instead urging the application 28 U.S.S.G. §
2M6.1(a)(2) which called for a base offense level of 28.  This resulted in the reduction of 14
points off of movant’s base offense level.  Because 28 U.S.C. § 2M6.1(a)(2) appropriately
applied, the guidelines called for an increase of 2 points under 28 U.S.S.G. § 2M6.1(b)(1) as the
offense involved a threat to use or otherwise involved a select biological agent in addition to an
increase of 4 points under 28 U.S.S.G. § 2M6.1(b)(3) as the offense resulted in a substantial
disruption of Government functions and expenditures.  
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Failure to file written objections to the proposed findings of facts, conclusions of law and

recommendations contained within this report within fourteen (14) days after service shall bar an

aggrieved party from de novo review by the district court of the proposed findings, conclusions and

recommendations and from appellate review of factual findings and legal conclusions accepted by

the district court except on grounds of plain error.  Douglass v. United Services Automobile

Association, 79 F.3d 1415, 1417 (5th Cir. 1996) (en banc); 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1); FED. R. CIV. P.

72.
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